### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT FILED

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

DEC 3 0 2014

Plaintiff and Respondent,

S217699

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Court of Appeal

No. A135607

Deputy

v.

TYRIS LAMAR FRANKLIN,

Defendant and Appellant.

(Contra Costa County Superior Court No. 51103019)

### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After Decision by the Court of Appeal First Appellate District, Division Three Filed February 28, 2014

GENE D. VOROBYOV, California Bar No. 200193 LAW OFFICE OF GENE VOROBYOV 5214 F Diamond Heights Blvd, # 733 San Francisco, CA 94131 Telephone: (415) 425-2693; gene.law@gmail.com

Attorney for Appellant

##

### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did petitioner's sentence of 50 years to life for a homicide committed when he was a juvenile violate the Eighth Amendment?
- 2. Was the first issue rendered moot by enactment of Penal Code¹ section 3051?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Unless indicated otherwise, all future unassigned statutory references are to the Penal Code.

### INTRODUCTION

While Tyris Franklin was tried and convicted of murder as an adult, he was only 16 years old at the time of the crime.<sup>2</sup>

The killing occurred minutes after Tyris learned that his 12-year old brother was assaulted by a group of older teenagers belonging to a local gang that had attacked Tyris and his family for a year prior to the killing. Tyris associated the victim Gene G. with that gang. When Tyris confronted Gene G. by asking "which one of you motherfuckers jumped my little brother? Gene G. replied "Fuck you and your little brother," which was hardly a denial that Gene was involved in the attack on Tyris's brother.

These were clearly mitigating circumstances. So was Tyris's age at the time of his crime (and the relevant mitigating factors of youth), and his lack of a significant prior criminal record or gang ties.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Because appellant was 16 years old at the time of the crime, and the victim and all key witnesses were also juveniles, appellant will refer to them by their first names. No disrespect is intended.

Yet, under the California sentencing scheme, Tyris's crime of conviction and the personal firearm discharge enhancement *mandated* his punishment to be 50 years to life (a sentence that is a functional equivalent of a life without parole sentence) *regardless* of the circumstances of the crime or the mitigating factors of youth discussed in recent decisions of the United States Supreme Court and this Court.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

### A. The 8th Amendment Violation

Under the recent line of authority decided by the United States Supreme Court and by this Court, Tyris's 50 years to life sentence violates the Eighth Amendment because it is a *de facto* life without parole sentence mandated by law, without allowing consideration of mitigating factors of youth. (*Miller v. Alabama* (2012) 132 S. Ct. 2455; *Graham v. Florida* (2009) 560 U.S. 48; *People v. Caballero* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 262; *People v. Gutierrez* (2014) 58 Cal.4th 1354.)

Simply put, these decisions stand for a proposition that Eighth Amendment requires that children be treated differently from adults for sentencing purposes. They are based on medical literature and social science research (as well as on common sense observations known to any parent), which identified certain mitigating factors of youth, including "transient rashness, proclivity for risk, and inability to assess consequences." (Miller, 132 S.Ct. at p. 2464, quoting Roper v. Simmons (2005) 543 U.S. 551, 570.) These mitigating factors of youth "both lessened a child's moral culpability and enhanced the prospect that, as the years go by and neurological development occurs, his deficiencies will be reformed." (Miller, 132 S.Ct. at p. 2464, quoting Roper, 543 U.S at p. 570.)

Under the *Roper-Graham-Miller* line of precedent, imposition of death penalty for homicides committed as a juvenile is barred by the Eighth Amendment. Similarly, imposition of a life without parole sentence for a non-homicide crime committed before reaching age 18 is barred by the Eighth Amendment. Finally, imposition of a *mandatory* life without parole sentence for a homicide committed

before the age 18 is prohibited. Before such a sentence can be imposed, the sentencing court must be given discretion to consider imposing a lesser sentence in light of mitigating factors of youth, such as rashness, inability to consider risks and consequences of conduct, and penchant for risky behavior.

Decisions of this Court are in accord. In *Caballero*, this Court extended *Graham* and *Miller* to a term-of-years sentence that is a functional equivalent of life without parole sentence and imposed for a non-homicide crime. Then, most recently, in *Gutierrez*, this Court extended the holding of *Caballero* to bar imposition of a life without parole sentence for a homicide crime under a sentencing scheme, which created a presumption in favor of a life without parole sentence. Instead, the sentencing judge must be allowed to exercise individualized sentencing discretion using the *Miller* youth factors.

In light of the above-discussed authorities, a mandatory 50 years to life sentence imposed for a homicide committed as a juvenile violates the Eighth Amendment. Since Tyris's natural life

expectancy may well be 65 years or lower (when his race and the likely impact of incarceration is taken into account), Tyris will likely not live long enough to attend his first parole hearing. This places Tyris's sentence on equal footing with the term-of-years sentence found unconstitutional in *Caballero*, as well as lower court decision in *Mendez*, *Argeta*, and *Hernandez*.

But even if one ignores the likely impact of Tyris's race and incarceration on his expected life span and optimistically prognosticates that he can expect to life 72 to 76 years, Tyris's sentence is still a functional life without parole sentence. Under his sentence, Tyris will be incarcerated for a half a century before earning a shot at parole in his late 60's. In the best-case scenario, it would likely be a prison-to-nursing home type of a release. Tyris would never have had an opportunity to experience any substantial period of normal adult life in the community. Much like a sentence that is formally designated "life without parole," a sentence of 50 years to life "alters an offender's life by a forfeiture that is irrevocable."

///

## B. Recent Enactment of Section 3051 Does Not Moot the Eighth Amendment Violation

The enactment of the youth offender parole hearing does not remove life without parole sentences (or their functional equivalent) from the ambit of *Miller's* Eighth Amendment concerns. As this Court has very recently held in *Gutierrez*, the *Miller-Graham* line of precedent requires a sentence that is constitutional at its inception.

Using this rationale, *Gutierrez* rejected a mootness argument based on "after-the-fact corrective" statute (§ 1170, subd. (d)(2)) that is closely analogous to section 3051.

Like the statute invalidated in *Gutierrez*, section 3051 does not require the sentencing court to impose *at the outset* a sentence that provides a juvenile offender with a meaningful opportunity to obtain release. Instead, it merely creates *a possibility* of an administrative review process decades into the future. Said process does not justify imposition of a sentence that *Miller* held could be imposed on only those rare juvenile offenders found to be "irreparably corrupt." While the Court of Appeal in this case

reached a contrary conclusion, the appellate court did not have the benefit of *Gutierrez*.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A jury convicted appellant of first degree murder and made a true finding on a personal firearm discharge enhancement (§§ 187 and 12022.53, subd. (d)). (5 RT 1101; 2 CT 411-412.)

Appellant's sentence of 50 years to life was mandated by statute – 25 years to life on the murder count and the mandatory consecutive 25-to-life term for the use of a firearm, which caused death. (§§ 190, subd. (a), and 12022.53, subd. (d).) In imposing this sentence, the trial court stated that it was "the sentence that's prescribed by law, not one that the Court chooses." (5 RT 1127.)

In the Court of Appeal, appellant argued that his mandatory 50 years to life sentence violated *Miller* and *Graham* because the sentence was a de facto life without parole sentence and was imposed without consideration of the mitigating factors of youth set forth in *Miller* and *Graham*.

In a partially published opinion, the Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment and sentence. The appellate court assumed (without deciding) that appellant's 50-to-life sentence was a functional equivalent of a life without parole sentence, and that Tyris's sentence, when imposed, violated the Eighth Amendment. (*People v. Franklin* (2004) 224 Cal.App.4th 296, 375, rev. granted (S217699, June 11, 2014.) But the court also held that enactment of the youthful offender parole hearing system mooted the Eighth Amendment challenge to the sentence. (*Id.* at pp. 376-379.)

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

## A. Tyris's Background

Tyris Franklin was 16 years old at the time of the charged crimes. His mother raised a family, which, in addition to Tyris, includes four siblings. (3 RT 613-614; 5 RT 1121.)

At the time of sentencing, Tyris had completed eleventh grade. He was getting ready to take his GED test. Tyris was also interested in pursuing further education and / or enlisting in the United States Navy. (2 CT 543.)

In his leisure time, Tyris was interested in boxing and joined a Richmond Police Athletic League to pursue it; but it only lasted a couple of weeks. Tyris also used to play a flute. (2 CT 543.)

Prior to the charged crimes, Tyris had an insignificant record of juvenile adjudications. It consisted of three sustained juvenile delinquency petitions for misdemeanor resisting arrest and assault, in 2008 and 2010. Following the latest sustained petition, Tyris successfully committed a 90-day mandatory treatment program. At the time of the charged crimes, Tyris was on parole following completion of that program. (2 CT 545.)

At sentencing, Tyris apologized for what he had done:

I do want to say I'm sorry, but sorry is a simple word, though. I didn't have no thoughts about killing him, you know. I don't know. It's hard to explain.

But I do want to apologize to the family for taking your son, and I do want to apologize to my mother for taking me away from her and my family.

I want to say sorry, but, like I said, sorry is... sorry can't explain the way I feel. Like you said you can't sleep at night. I can't sleep at night, either. I haven't been able to sleep at night for a lot of years now, you know.

I'm not good with emotion, so I'm ... I really wish this didn't happen. I wish I could have found another way, but, like I said, I want to say sorry, but sorry is just – I don't know no other words to use. I don't know. I don't know. I'd like to say sorry to my mother, too. I would like to say sorry to each and every one of you all for what I did.

(5 RT 1126.)

B. Continuing Attacks on Tyris and His Family by the Victim's Gang Associates, Which Occurred During the Year Preceding the Homicide

Tyris had known the victim Gene G. for years. They were friends in middle school. (3 RT 617-618.) However, by January 2011 (about a year prior to the homicide), they were no longer friends. They had an altercation, during which Tyris was ready to fight, but Gene G. said "We don't fight no more. We shoot." (3 RT 618-620.)

Tyris associated Gene with a local gang called the Crescent

Park gang or the Mini Mob.<sup>3</sup> Tyris had seen Gene together with the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>While no evidence of existence of a formal gang by that name was presented at trial, appellant's online research shows that there is a Crescent Park gang embroiled in a gang war in Richmond, California. (<a href="http://richmondconfidential.org/2012/02/16/richmondgang-detective-alleges-blacknell-built-reputation-for-violence">http://richmondconfidential.org/2012/02/16/richmondgang-detective-alleges-blacknell-built-reputation-for-violence</a>) (as of Dec. 24, 2014.) According to a sworn testimony of a police detective in a criminal trial, this gang is one of the loosely knit local groups, which takes pride in their neighborhood or block and "is motivated"

other members of this group. Gene's cell phone contains with Gene and several other members (including Kian W.) throwing gang signs. Tyris also thought Gene had shot up his house on a prior occasion. (3 RT 776.)

Crescent Park gang is a neighborhood gang, with which Tyris has had an ongoing conflict. Members of the gang shot up Tyris's house several times. (3 RT 752.) Two members of Tyris's family stood ready to testify at trial that during one of the incidents, threats were made and a weapon was brandished by a young man that could have been Gene G.<sup>4</sup> (3 RT 792-793.) Tyris's mother described these events at sentencing. (5 RT 1121.)

Several days prior to the killing, Kian W. (a member of the gang, and a friend of Gene G. who was on a photo in Gene's cell

to gun violence by both a desire to build reputations and avenge the death of comrades."

<sup>4</sup>The trial court excluded this testimony under Evidence Code section 352. (4 RT 814-815.) In his appeal, appellant challenged this exclusion as a violation of state law and also the federal due process clause. Appellant has exhausted his state court remedies for the purpose of filing any federal habeas corpus petition challenging this ruling.

phone flashing gang signs) brandished a firearm at Tyris while they were both at school. (3 RT 624.) After this incident, Tyris's older brother Demond gave Tyris a loaded gun for protection. (3 RT 626-627.) Tyris made an unfortunate choice of taking the gun with him to school on the day of the killing. (3 RT 627, 646.)

C. The Homicide, Which Occurred Shortly After Tyris's 12-year Old Brother Was Assaulted By Several Older Crescent Park Gang Members

On the day of the homicide, Tyris was at a friend's house after school, when he got a phone call from his older brother Demond.

While Tyris spoke to Demond, he looked somewhat angry, though he did not say why. (2 RT 314-317, 320.) After the phone call, Tyris recounted that Kian W. and some other teenagers from Crescent Park had just attacked Tyris's 12-year old brother and almost hit him with a car. The assailants said they were looking for Tyris. (3 RT 637.) Tyris was angry because the previous attacks on him and his family have now reached his 12-year old brother and he blamed himself for the attack. (3 RT 639-640.)

Tyris asked for a ride to the Crescent Park neighborhood. (2 RT 321-324.) Tyris wanted to go there because the Crescent Park gang was looking for him and he wanted to present himself, rather than wait for another attack. (3 RT 645-646.) Tyris was looking for the gang, not any specific person, and he did not plan to shoot anyone. But he did contemplate a possibility of having to use the gun. (3 RT 645-646, 648, 649, 650.)

Another friend (Jeanpierre Fordjour) gave Tyris, his friend Khalifa, and Jaswinder (an acquaintance) a ride to the Crescent Park neighborhood. The ride took about five minutes. There was no conversation during the ride, and music was playing. Tyris thought about what happened with his brother, and about the past attacks by the same gang. (3 RT 647.)

Tyris did not tell anyone in the car what he was thinking about; he was not crying or emotional. (3 RT 647-648.) According to Jaswinder (who did not know Tyris very well), Tyris's demeanor was "emotionless." But Tyris's friend Khalifa testified that Tyris

usually is a quiet guy and not particularly emotional. (2 RT 327, 349, 384, 407.)

Once the group arrived to the Crescent Park area, they saw the victim Gene G. walking down the street. They made a U-turn. Tyris asked Jeanpierre to unlock the door. Khalifa made a statement to the effect that Tyris did not need to "ride up" on Gene G. because Gene had nothing to do with this situation. Tyris's response may have been something like "I don't care. They beat up my brother" or "It doesn't matter. He is still from Crescent Park." (2 RT 330, 361, 386.) Tyris himself testified that he said "I don't care. They jumped my little brother." (3 RT 653.)

Jeanpierre stopped the car close to where Gene G. was walking. Several witnesses testified that Tyris pulled out a gun from his waistband when he got out of the car. (2 RT 363, 389, 421.)

According to a witness who observed the events from a balcony across the street, Tyris walked around a parked car towards Gene, and, without saying anything, shot him several times. Neither Khalifa nor Jaswinder heard any conversation between Tyris and

Gene before shots were fired. (2 RT 275-277, 34; 4 RT 876-881.)

However, Jeanpierre (who was in the same car as Khalifa and Jaswinder) told the police that shots were fired within seconds after Tyris yelled at Gene. (2 CT 539.)

Tyris himself testified that he did not pull out the gun until his conversation with Gene G. The gun was in his waistband when he got out, approached Gene G. and asked "Which one of you motherfuckers just jumped my little brother?" When Tyris approached Gene, Tyris did not know whether Gene was involved in the attack on his brother. (3 RT 718, 761-762.) Gene responded with "Fuck you and your little brother." Only then Tyris took out a gun and shot Gene G. (3 RT 656-657.)

## D. The Investigation and the Trial

Richmond police arrested Tyris a couple of hours later. In his initial police interview, Tyris denied any involvement in the shooting, as well as being in Crescent Park that day. (2 RT 428; 4 RT 912, 917.)

At trial, the prosecutor extensively cross-examined Tyris regarding several unrelated prior school fights Tyris had with other students when he was in middle and in high school, including the fight on BART with Lisso G., another member of the Crescent Park gang. (3 RT 681-686, 744-746.)

Also, a BART police officer testified regarding the specific details of a fight between Tyris and Lisso G. The officer described an attack by four individuals, and Tyris as the primary aggressor. (4 RT 896-897.)

But Lisso himself testified for the defense and described a more pedestrian fight between adolescents, rather than an aggravated group assault suggested by the officer. (4 RT 944-946.) Lisso's account was much more consistent with the eventual resolution of this incident as a misdemeanor. (2 CT 561.)

///

///

///

///

#### ARGUMENT

I.

Tyris's 50 Years to Life Sentence Violates the Eight Amendment Because It Is a Mandatory Functional Life Without Parole Sentence That Was Imposed on a Juvenile Offender Without Considering the *Miller-Graham* Youth Factors

# A. Appellant's 50-to-Life Sentence In This Case Was Mandatory

There should be no reasonable debate that Tyris's 50-to-life sentence in this case was mandated by statute – 25 years to life on the murder count and the mandatory consecutive 25-to-life term for the use of a firearm, which caused death. (§§ 190, subd. (a), and 12022.53, subd. (d).) In imposing this sentence, the trial court stated that it was "the sentence that's prescribed by law, not one that the Court chooses." (5 RT 1127.)

It should be emphasized that the sentencing scheme before this Court is even more analogous to the sentencing scheme invalidated in *Miller*, than the scheme invalidated in *Gutierrez*.

In *Gutierrez*, juvenile defendants who committed special circumstances murder were sentenced to a life without parole

sentence under section 190.5, subdivision (b), which gave the sentencing judge discretion to sentence the defendant to a survivable 25-to-life term. What created an Eighth Amendment problem under *Miller* was then-existing judicial construction of section 190.5, subdivision (b), as creating *a presumption* in favor of a life without parole sentence. (*Gutierrez*, 58 Cal.4th at p. 1379 [creating a presumption in favor of life without parole sentences for 16 and 17-year olds is at odds with the holding of *Miller* that such sentences should be rarities].)

But in case like Tyris's, the sentencing judge has no discretion at all. When an offender commits first degree murder using a gun, the law mandates both the 25-to-life sentence for murder and a consecutive 25-to-life enhancement for the personal discharge of a weapon. Since section 12022.53, subdivision (h), prohibits striking of the enhancement under section 1385, subdivision (a), the judge in this situation has even less discretion than the circumscribed discretion held invalid in *Gutierrez* –i.e., he has no discretion at all to

impose anything less than 50 years to life. <sup>5</sup> This places the sentencing scheme at issue on equal footing with the Alabama and Arkansas sentencing schemes, which both mandated life without parole sentence based on the crime of conviction. (*Miller*, 132 S.Ct. at pp. 2461-2463.)

This also creates an anomaly between those defendants convicted of first degree murder with a gun and those who commit a first degree special circumstances murder. The latter category clearly involves a more grave crime; if an adult is convicted of such a crime, the only possible options would be the death penalty or a life without parole sentence. (§190.2, subd. (a).) Yet, in sentencing a juvenile defendant for this more grave crime, the sentencing court had discretion to sentence to a 25-to-life term even before *Gutierrez* remove a presumption in favor of a life without parole sentence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Section 12022.53, subd. (h), provides:

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