In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Case No. S217699

v.

TYRIS LAMAR FRANKLIN,

Defendant and Appellant.

SUPREME COURT

MAR 19 2015

First Appellate District, Division Three, Case No. A135607 Contra Costa County Superior Court, Case No. 511030 Plank A. McGuire Clerk The Honorable Leslie Landau, Judge

Deputy

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Defendant's Eighth Amendment claim is moot. California eliminated de facto sentences of life without parole for most juvenile offenders, including defendant, by enacting Penal Code section 3051 and amending section 3046 as a legislative response to this court's decision in *Caballero*.

Notwithstanding the original sentence imposed by the trial court of 50 years to life in prison, the Court of Appeal correctly concluded that defendant is entitled to a hearing to determine if he should be released on parole after he serves 25 years in prison. As a result, defendant no longer serves a sentence arguably equivalent to life in prison without the possibility of parole.

Defendant does not dispute that his case falls within the scope of section 3051 and that an indeterminate life term with 25 years until parole eligibility does not violate his Eighth Amendment rights. (AOB 32.) Indeed, the relief defendant seeks is a remand to allow the court to consider a sentence of 25 years to life in prison. (AOB 11.) Thus, the intervening action by the Legislature in Senate Bill No. 260 renders the Eighth Amendment claim moot in this case and, indeed, for most offenses.

Irrespective of whether defendant's constitutional issue is moot, a mandatory sentence of 50 years to life for defendant's conviction of first degree murder with personal use of a firearm does not violate the Eighth Amendment under this court's decisions applying *Graham* and *Miller*. Defendant's sentence as imposed by the trial court provides him a meaningful opportunity for release within his natural life expectancy.

Should this court conclude that defendant's 50-years-to-life term is a de facto LWOP sentence, the case should be remanded to the trial court to determine whether defendant's offenses reflect his irreparable corruption within the meaning of *Miller*. If the court does not so conclude, it should determine a parole eligibility date within defendant's expected lifetime.

ARGUMENT

I. BY THE INTERVENING ENACTMENT OF SENATE BILL NO. 260,
DEFENDANT IS NOW ELIGIBLE FOR PAROLE CONSIDERATION
AFTER 25 YEARS OF IMPRISONMENT, RENDERING MOOT THE
CLAIM OF CONSTITUTIONAL INFIRMITY IN THE SENTENCE

Defendant claims that his sentence of 50 years to life in prison is the functional equivalent of LWOP. He asserts that absent eligibility for parole earlier than 50 years, the sentence is precluded by the federal Constitution's Eighth Amendment because he was a juvenile when he committed the murder. He asserts that the trial court must determine a constitutionally-compliant term of years to parole eligibility release. That claim is moot.

In enacting Senate Bill No. 260, the Legislature created a new parole eligibility mechanism for juvenile offenders like defendant, who are sentenced to lengthy terms in prison. The legislation permits such juveniles to demonstrate their readiness for parole after a prescribed term of confinement lower than the previously imposed sentence and caps the maximum number of years to be served until parole eligibility at 25 years.

Senate Bill No. 260 mandates more than a parole hearing for youthful offenders serving lengthy sentences in prison. It allows such cases to be assessed in the context best suited to evaluating the individual offender's level of maturity and judgment, efforts at rehabilitation, and all other factors relevant to the ultimate decision whether the offender's reintegration into the community threatens further harm to society.

Senate Bill No. 260 has eliminated mandatory term-of-years sentences approximating life without possibility of parole for nearly all juvenile offenders in this state. Defendant's claim has been rendered only theoretic, and the judgment of the Court of Appeal should be affirmed on that basis.

A. Section 3051 Limits the Time That Juvenile Offenders Like Defendant Serve in Custody Prior to a Parole Hearing to a 25 Years Maximum, Curing Any Eighth Amendment Infirmity in the Original Sentence

The Supreme Court in *Graham*, supra, 560 U.S. 48, categorically barred under the Eighth Amendment a court's imposition of an LWOP sentence on a juvenile offender convicted of nonhomicide offenses. The court explained that juveniles, by reason of their immaturity, are less culpable for their criminal actions than their adult counterparts. (*Id.* at p. 68.) Given the transient nature of juveniles' immaturity, the court expressed concern at the difficulty of identifying the "irreparable corruption" typically needed to justify an LWOP sentence. (*Ibid.*) The high court also recognized that "defendants who do not kill, intend to kill, or foresee that life will be taken are categorically less deserving of the most serious forms of punishment than are murderers." (Id. at p. 69.) In light of those considerations, the court determined that sentencing juveniles to the "second most severe penalty permitted by law" could not be justified by legitimate penological goals in nonhomicide cases. (Id. at p. 69, quoting Harmelin v. Michigan (1991) 501 U.S. 957, 1001 (conc. opn. of Kennedy, J.).)

Graham itself made clear the limits of the court's holding, namely, that a "[s]tate need not guarantee the offender eventual release, but if it imposes a sentence of life it must provide him or her with some realistic opportunity to obtain release before the end of that term." (Graham, supra, 560 U.S. at p. 82.) The high court directed that "[i]t is for the [s]tate, in the first instance, to explore the means and mechanisms for compliance" with this requirement. (Id. at p. 75.) The court did not say the required "means and mechanisms" are limited to judicial sentencing.

Two years later, in *Miller*, *supra*, 132 S.Ct. 2455, the Supreme Court revisited LWOP sentences for juveniles, this time in the context of a

conviction for murder. Initially, the high court clarified that *Graham*'s "flat ban" on LWOP sentences for juveniles applies only to nonhomicide cases. (*Id.* at p. 2465.) Recognizing, however, the force of *Graham*'s insistence that "youth matters" when considering whether a juvenile should be denied any opportunity for release (apart from clemency) from the outset of his sentence, *Miller* held that "the Eighth Amendment forbids a sentencing scheme that mandates life in prison without possibility of parole for juvenile offenders." (*Id.* at p. 2469.) The court explained that mandatory LWOP poses a great risk of disproportionality by making all age-related considerations irrelevant to the imposition of these stringent and irrevocable sentences. (*Ibid.*) While the court expressly refused to invalidate LWOP sentences for juveniles, *Miller* demanded that sentencing courts considering LWOP sentences "take into account how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison." (*Ibid.*)

Shortly after *Miller*, the court in *Caballero*, *supra*, 55 Cal.4th 262 considered a mandatory term-of-years sentence not constituting actual LWOP. *Caballero* struck down mandatorily consecutive terms aggregating to a 110-years-to-life sentence for three nonhomicide offenses by a 16-year-old defendant, on the ground that the 110-year term transgressed *Graham*'s "flat ban." (55 Cal.4th at p. 268.) This court reasoned that "[a]lthough the state is by no means required to guarantee eventual freedom to a juvenile convicted of a nonhomicide offense, *Graham* holds that the Eighth Amendment requires the state to afford the juvenile offender a 'meaningful opportunity to obtain release based on demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation," and that "[a] life without parole sentence improperly denies the juvenile offender a chance to demonstrate growth and maturity." (*Id.* at p. 266, quoting *Graham*, *supra*, 560 U.S. at p. 73.) "*Graham*'s reasoning implicates any life-without-parole sentence imposed on a juvenile, even as

its categorical bar relates only to nonhomicide offenses." (*Caballero*, *supra*, at p. 267, quoting *Miller*, *supra*, 132 S.Ct. at p. 2465.) Pursuant to *Graham*, *Caballero* held that "sentencing a juvenile offender for a nonhomicide offense to a term of years with a parole eligibility date that falls outside the juvenile offender's natural life expectancy constitutes cruel and unusual punishment in violation of the Eighth Amendment." (*Id.* at p. 268.)

Caballero emphasized that its holding must be understood in the context of "Graham's analysis, [which] does not focus on the precise sentence meted out. Instead, as noted above, it holds that a state must provide a juvenile offender 'with some realistic opportunity to obtain release' from prison during his or her expected lifetime." (55 Cal.4th at p. 268, quoting Graham, supra, 560 U.S. at p. 82, italics added.) Echoing Graham's invitation to the states to explore "means and mechanisms" of complying with its Eighth Amendment requirement, the court in Caballero resolved that legislative action could meet the state's requirement to provide realistic opportunity for parole in such cases: "We urge the Legislature to enact legislation establishing a parole eligibility mechanism that provides a defendant serving a de facto life sentence without possibility of parole for nonhomicide crimes that he or she committed as a juvenile with the opportunity to obtain release on a showing of rehabilitation and maturity." (Caballero, at p. 269, fn. 5.) Like the United States Supreme Court, this court did not suggest in Caballero that only a judicial "mechanism" will do. It would be strange if it had, since parole eligibility determinations are traditionally administrative in nature.

The California Legislature took heed of this court's recommendation. On September 16, 2013, the Governor signed into law Senate Bill No. 260. The bill established a parole eligibility mechanism for juvenile offenders with life sentences in both nonhomicide and homicide cases. In so doing, the state responded directly to the expressions in *Miller*, *Graham*, and

Caballero that the deprivation of a court's ability to consider the offender's youthfulness before imposing LWOP or functional equivalents risks significant sentence disparity that violates the Eighth Amendment.

Section 1 of Senate Bill No. 260 states, in pertinent part:

The Legislature finds and declares that, as stated by the United States Supreme Court in Miller v. Alabama (2012) 183 L.Ed.2d 407, "only a relatively small proportion of adolescents" who engage in illegal activity "develop entrenched patterns of problem behavior," and that "developments in psychology and brain science continue to show fundamental differences between juvenile and adult minds," including "parts of the brain involved in behavior control." The Legislature recognizes that youthfulness both lessens a juvenile's moral culpability and enhances the prospect that, as a youth matures into an adult and neurological development occurs, these individuals can become contributing members of society. The purpose of this act is to establish a parole eligibility mechanism that provides a person serving a sentence for crimes that he or she committed as a juvenile the opportunity to obtain release when he or she has shown that he or she has been rehabilitated and gained maturity, in accordance with the decision of the California Supreme Court in People v. Caballero (2012) 55 Cal.4th 262 and the decisions of the United States Supreme Court in Graham v. Florida (2010) 460 U.S. 48, and Miller v. Alabama (2012) 183 L.Ed.2d 407.

(Stats. 2013, ch. 312, § 1.)

Effective January 1, 2014, Senate Bill No. 260 added new section 3051. That section establishes parole eligibility dates for juvenile offenders based on the length of the sentence imposed for the "controlling offense," defined as "the offense or enhancement for which any sentencing court imposed the longest term of imprisonment." (§ 3051, subd. (a)(2)(B).) As relevant to this case, the section provides:

A person who was convicted of a controlling offense that was committed before the person had attained 18 years of age and for which the sentence is a life term of 25 years to life shall be eligible for release on parole by the board during his or her 25th year of incarceration at a youth offender parole hearing, unless

previously released or entitled to an earlier parole consideration hearing pursuant to other statutory provisions.

(§ 3051, subd. (b)(3), as amended by Stats. 2013, ch. 312, § 4.)³

This provision is similar to those enacted by other states which have "new statutes have allowed parole eligibility for juveniles sentenced to long prison terms for homicides to begin after fifteen or twenty-five years of incarceration." (State v. Null (Iowa 2013) 836 N.W.2d 41, 72; see also id. at fn. 8 [collecting statutes; see, e.g., Del. Code Ann. tit. 11 § 4209A (Westlaw current through 79 Laws 2013, chs. 1–61) [providing the possibility of parole eligibility to juveniles convicted of first-degree murder after twenty-five years]; N.C. Gen. Stat. Ann. § 15A –1340.19A (Westlaw current through S.L.2013-128, 130-144 of the 2013 Reg. Sess.) [providing parole eligibility for juveniles convicted of first-degree murder after twenty-five years imprisonment]; 18 Pa. Cons.Stat. Ann. § 1102.1(a) (Westlaw current through Reg. Sess. Act 2013–11) [providing parole eligibility for juveniles age fifteen and older convicted of homicide after thirty-five years and for those under fifteen years of age after twenty-five years]; Utah Code Ann. §§ 76–5–202(3)(e), 76–3–207.7 (Westlaw current through 2013 Gen. Sess.) [providing that juveniles convicted of first-degree murder are eligible for parole after serving twenty-five years]; Wyo. Stat. Ann. § 6–10–301(c) (Westlaw current through 2013 Gen. Sess.) [providing parole eligibility for juveniles convicted of first-degree murder after twenty-five years imprisonment]; see also H.R. 1993, 89th Gen. Assem., Reg. Sess. (Ark. 2013) [amending Arkansas Code section 5–10–101(c) to provide that juveniles convicted of first-degree murder may be sentenced to life in prison without possibility of parole for twenty-eight years]; H.R. 152, 2013 Reg. Sess. (La. 2013) [providing, in newly enacted section 15.574.4(E) of Louisiana Revised Statutes, the possibility of parole eligibility for juveniles convicted of first or second-degree murder after thirty-five years imprisonment]; L. 44, 103d Leg., 1st Sess. (Neb. 2013) giving a trial court discretion to impose a term-of-years sentence ranging from forty years to life after considering specific factors related to youth]; S. 239, 2013 Leg. Assem., 88th Sess. (S.D. 2013) [granting a trial court discretion to impose a sentence less than life without parole on a juvenile convicted of first or second-degree murder following consideration of specific factors related to youth and providing that life without parole "should normally be reserved for the worst offenders and the worst cases"].)

Senate Bill No. 260 also amended section 3046 to exempt juvenile offenders from the rule that prisoners sentenced to consecutive life sentences must serve their full consecutive terms before becoming eligible for parole. (§ 3046, subds. (a)-(c), as amended by Stats. 2013, § 3.)⁴ Accordingly, juvenile offenders such as defendant are eligible for parole determinations under the provisions of Senate Bill No. 260 regardless of any consecutive terms of years.⁵

B. Defendant's Case Comes Within Section 3051

Defendant was 16 years old when he committed the instant murder in January 2011. He was sentenced to 25 years to life for the first degree murder and to a consecutive 25-years-to-life term for the firearm enhancement, for a total sentence of 50 years to life in state prison.

Defendant was not sentenced pursuant to the Three Strikes law, Jessica's Law, or to life without the possibility of parole. We do not assert his subsequent commission of any crime involving either malice or a life term sentence. Thus, this case comes within section 3051.

Defendant received the same sentence for the murder and the gun enhancement—25 years to life. Either of those two terms can serve as the "controlling offense" for purposes of section 3051, subdivision (a)(2)(B).

⁴ Caballero relied on former section 3046, subdivision (b) to determine the juvenile's parole eligibility date. Under amended section 3046, Caballero would not be subject to a minimum term of 110 years until parole eligibility, as consecutive sentences no longer establish the number of years the offender is required to serve until a parole determination.

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